IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

W L A B INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1). The district court entered its orders on April 7, 2021 and May 25, 2021. WLAB timely filed its appeals on April 26, 2021 and June 8, 2021, respectively. The orders were consolidated by order on August 30, 2021.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case does not fall under the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals presumptions. Appellant would ask that the Supreme Court retain jurisdiction of this matter considering the significant Rule 11 sanctions assessed in this case.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

1. I certify that this brief complies with the formatting, typeface, and type-style requirement of NRAP 32(a)(4)-(6) because it was prepared in Microsoft Word 2010 with a proportionally spaced typeface in 14-point, double-spaced Century Schoolbook font.

2. I certify that this brief complies with the type-volume limitations of NRAP 32(a)(7) because it does not exceed 30 pages.

3. I certify that I have read this appellate brief, that it is not frivolous or interposed for any improper purpose, and that it complies with all applicable rules of appellate procedure, including NRAP 28(e). I understand that if it does not, I may be subject to sanctions.

Dated this 18th day of November, 2021.

DAY & NANCE

/s/ Steven L. Day

Steven L. Day (SBN 3708) 1060 Wigwam Parkway Henderson, NV 89074 Tel. (702) 309-3333 Attorneys for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on November 18th 2021, I submitted the foregoing

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF for filing via the Court's eFlex

electronic filing system. Electronic notification will be sent to the

following:

Michael B. Lee, Esq. Michael Mathis, Esq. Michael B. Lee, P.C. 1820 E. Sahara Ave., Suite 110 Las Vegas, NV 89104 *Attorneys for Respondents*

> /s/ Brinley Richeson _____ An employee of Day & Nance

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

WLAB Investment, LLC, appeals from an April 7, 2021 amended order granting summary judgment in favor of Defendants/Respondents which included sanctions against WLAB and its prior counsel and a May 25, 2021 order denying WLAB's Motion for Reconsideration.

The underlying case arises out of the August, 2017, purchase of an investment rental property, a triplex apartment located at 2132 Houston Drive in Las Vegas. WLAB alleged that the sellers fraudulently concealed various defective conditions in the property all to WLAB's damage. Causes of action include fraud, fraudulent concealment, breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing and an NRS Chapter 113 action.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

TKNR, Inc., an InvestPro "flipping fund" group won the auction and bought the property located at 2132 Houston Drive in Las Vegas for \$95,100.00 on September 25, 2015, at a foreclosure auction. (4 App. 725-27). The property secured a \$291,608.90 balance on a bank note. (4 App. 725). The foreclosure auction opening bid was only \$50,000.00 as land value due to the many defective conditions of the building. Though

the balance on the debt was 291,608.90,TKNR, Inc. only paid \$95,100.00 for the property as land value. *Id.* The building on this property should have been condemned.

WLAB Investment Group, LLC, is a California LLC with members Marie Zhu and Frank Miao (wife and husband). Both Mr. Miao and Ms. Zhu have PhDs engineering. (8 App. 1522-23). Mr. Miao's background was designing, engineering and building plants. (8 App. 1522, p. 33, ll. 14-19). Over his career, he has worked for the Institute of Gas Technology, the Gas Research Institute, Westinghouse, Siemens, ABB, Alstiom and Parsons Engineering & Construction. (8 App. 1522-23, pp. 34-37). In addition to designing, engineering and building plants, he was involved in the construction and maintenance of his many homes and apartments. 8 App. 1525-26, pp. 45-46).

WLAB contacted InvestPro, the listing agent for a triplex located at 2132 Houston Dr. in Las Vegas. (8 App. 1493: ¶¶2-3, 1576-85) WLAB entered into a residential purchase agreement with TKNR, Inc. on August 11, 2017, to purchase the triplex which was to be part of Mr. Miao's and Ms. Zhu's retirement plan. *Id.* A subsequent agreement was entered into September 5, 2017, for the sole purpose of extending

the closing date. (8 App. 1493: ¶3, 1564-73) Prior to Ms. Zhu signing the August 11, 2017, agreement, Mr. Miao inspected the property on August 10, 2017, with Mr. Kenny Lin, the InvestPro owner. (8 App. 1492: ¶3) During this initial inspection, Mr. Lin explained to Mr. Miao that he was the listing agent and that he was the owner of InvestPro. (4 App. 710). Lin further explained during the inspection that the entire property had been renovated. (8 App. 1492: ¶3) During this initial inspection, Mr. Miao pointed out to Mr. Lin that the units had many code-violation issues such as needing to have proper GFCI outlets in the kitchen, bathroom and laundry and smoke, combustible gas and CO detectors. (8 App. 1493: ¶3, 4 App. 712) There was a broken window in one unit and drywall was not complete around the window air conditioning unit installed in Unit A. (4 App. 712). There were electrical wires exposed and ceramic floor tiles were cracked, etc. (4) App. 712). Mr. Lin agreed to take care of the code violations. Id. After Mr. Miao's initial inspection of the property, he told his wife to go ahead and sign the purchase agreement. The agreement was e-signed on August 11, 2017, with the help of Kenny Lin and Ms. Le Wei Chen, an agent from Mr. Lin's InvestPro office. (8 App. 1492-93: ¶3). The form

had previously been prepared by InvestPro agents. *Id.* As seen in the August 11, 2017, Residential Purchase Agreement, <u>there was no waiver of due diligence</u>. (8 App. 1578: ¶7). Due diligence was waived in the 2nd September 4, 2017, purchase agreement as Mr. Miao had already completed multiple inspections of the property. (8 App. 1493: ¶3, 1566: ¶7). Mr. Miao, with his wife and through various business entities, owned at the time of this transaction 7 apartments in Las Vegas and more than 10 properties in California. (8 App. 1528: p. 138, ll. 10-17).

After the August 11, 2017, agreement was signed, Mr. Miao conducted additional inspections of the property. (8 App. 1493: ¶4). Ceramic tile had been laid in the kitchen, living room, hallway, and bathrooms. *Id.* Laminated wood flooring had been installed in all bedrooms. *Id.* Mr. Miao did not notice any issues with the flooring except for a few small cracks in the ceramic tile in unit C. *Id.* The floor was not buckling and no cracks were observed on the walls inside the building. *Id.* The units did look as though they had been recently renovated as Mr. Lin had represented. *Id.* Mr. Miao had initially asked Mr. Lin to also be his buyer's agent but after the August 11, 2017, agreement was signed, Mr. Miao learned that Mr. Lin had assigned Ms. Helen Chen from his office to be buyer's agent. (8 App. 1493: ¶5). Mr. Miao later learned that the renovations had been conducted only by InvestPro's unlicensed worker. (8 App. 1494, ¶ 5).

After the closing, Mr. Miao hired InvestPro as the property manager as they had been for the seller since TKNR purchased the property in 2015. (8 App. 1494: ¶6). Mr. Miao was invited to the InvestPro Christmas party during December of 2017. (4 App. 714, 8 App. 1491: ¶6). At the party, Mr. Lin explained to Mr. Miao that his group was buying properties at auction, rehabilitating properties and "flipping" them making large amounts of money. Id. A number of Mr. Lin's investors were present during the party and confirmed that they were in fact making lots of money. Id. Mr. Lin further explained that he put the investors together to buy the properties. Id. He invited Mr. Miao to join his "flipping fund." Id. Mr. Lin explained that Miao only needed to invest some money and that InvestPro would do everything from buying and remodeling the properties to "flipping" them to make a profit. Id. Mr. Lin described the investment as a sort of mutual fund where Mr. Miao could get a very good return. Id. Mr. Lin mentioned that the 2132 Houston Drive property was one of the projects in the

"flipping fund." *Id.* (4 App. 710) The vesting deed when the property was purchased by WLAB had an address for TKNR as 3553 S. Valley View Boulevard, InvestPro's office address instead of TKNR's California address. (4 App. 710)

Not long after WLAB's purchase of the property, Mr. Miao began to notice many problems with the property while InvestPro was the property manager. (4 App. 713, 8 App. 1494: ¶7). Tenants in Unit A complained that an electrical fuse kept burning out during the summer months. *Id.* The tenant reported the issue to InvestPro who sent their unlicensed worker to fix the problem. Id. The worker's fix was to disconnect other circuits to the fuse which resulted in the tenant not being able to use all outlets. Id. After complaining to Mr. Miao about the problem, Mr. Miao hired a licensed electrical contractor, Penny Electric, to look at the issue. Id. The contractor discovered that InvestPro's unlicensed worker had disconnected circuits behind the wall from the fuse. (8 App. 1495: \P 7). When the window air conditioning units were installed, InvestPro's unlicensed worker had piggybacked the AC circuit onto other circuits causing an overload on the fuse which is a building code violation. *Id.* The electrical panel did not have

sufficient wattage to power the residential unit with the additional air conditioners. *Id.* WLAB had to install a 100 amp panel for Unit A which more than doubled what was previously there. (4 App. 713). Lin had not disclosed the electrical code violation issue to Mr. Miao during the inspections or prior to closing. *Id.* Mr. Miao approached Mr. Lin about paying the \$10,000.00 bid to fix the problem. *Id.* Mr. Lin responded that it was Mr. Miao's problem. *Id.* Mr. Miao ended up paying for the repair. *Id.*

During approximately October of 2018 on a sunny day, the tenant notified Mr. Miao that there was water dripping from the ceiling. (4 App. 1495, ¶ 8). Upon opening the ceiling drywall, Mr. Miao learned that the dryer duct was vented to the attic in violation of the building code. *Id.* Mr. Miao also found that the air conditioning ductwork inside the ceiling was not insulated which is also code violation. *Id.* Mr. Miao discovered that when Defendants replaced the swamp cooler with the heat pump, they left the uninsulated swamp cooler duct in the attic which is also a code violation. *Id.* When the highly moist gas from the dryer exhaust cooled with cool air coming from the uninsulated AC duct, condensation occurred causing water dropping onto the unit C

ceiling. *Id.* The wet insulation in the attic was black and no longer working. *Id.* Mr. Miao hired ACLV to put in new insulated ducting and hired Home Depot to reinsulate the attic. *Id.* Mr. Miao found that Unit B had the same issue with the dryer vent dumping into the attic. *Id.* In Unit A, the dryer vented into the wall between two studs which eventually entered the attic. *Id.* None of this was reported by Lin prior to WLAB closing on the triplex. *Id.*

During litigation, Mr. Miao learned that in early March, 2016, InvestPro had installed a 5 ton heat-pump package on top of the roof to replace three swamp coolers. (4 App. 711). This done in violation of the building code which required load and wind calculation as well as permit and inspections. In doing so, they did not apply for a permit to upgrade the electrical system and there was no inspection of the electrical system as the code requires. *Id.* As part of the process, InvestPro's unlicensed worker dismantled the old natural gas wall furnaces and disconnected the natural gas supply lines again without permit or inspection or work by a licensed contractor and then covered the mess with drywall, texture and paint. *Id.* InvestPro also added larger electrical lines in the ceiling to serve the 5 ton unit again without permit, inspection or a licensed contractor. *Id.* The 5 ton heat-pump was too heavy for the roof which caused substantial vibration shaking noise. *Id.* When the tenant in Unit A complained and threatened to call code enforcement, InvestPro's unlicensed worker installed two new window air conditioners, again without permit or inspection, and ran new electrical lines also without permit or inspection as the code required.¹ *Id.* One 5 ton heatpump was removed and two 3 ton heatpumps were installed. *Id.* There were roof penetrations with the installation of the two new heat pumps servicing units B & C which caused roof leaks. (4 App. 711, 773) Wood paneling was removed December of 2020 which revealed a substantial crack in the exterior wall. *Id.*

The laminate flooring installed by InvestPro had been buckling. (8 App. 1496, ¶9). The ceramic flooring had also been cracking. *Id.* On February 16, 2021, Mr. Miao pulled up the laminate flooring in one of the Unit B bedrooms to find that the foundation concealed by the flooring had severely deteriorated. *Id.* (8 App. 1531-39). The

¹ NRS requires improvements to rental properties to be made by licensed contractors.

deteriorated condition of the foundation explained the severe cracks in walls that had been appearing through InvestPro's pre-sale renovations. (8 App. 1496: ¶9).

Prior to moving out August of 2020, the tenant in Unit C complained of slow drainage issues, particularly in the kitchen and bathroom. (8 App. 1496: ¶10). When Nicholas Quioz, the tenant in Unit A, moved out, he explained that he had reported to InvestPro during April of 2017 that sewage water had overflowed unto Unit A. Id. InvestPro's unlicensed worker had spent several weeks attempting to open up the sewer line. *Id.* Attached as Exhibit 7 to Plaintiff's/Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration is a photograph of sewage backed up into Unit C's bathtub. (8 App. 1562). The worker explained to Mr. Quioz that the sewer line was broken. (8 App. 1496: (10). Mr. Lin had not reported anything to Mr. Miao prior to or after closing about the broken sewer line. Id. Since learning about the broken sewer line, Mr. Miao has left the building unrented because of the danger to tenants of being exposed to sewage and sewer gases. Id. Seller's Disclosures.

Examination of Seller's Real Property Disclosure Form reveals the inadequacy of Seller's disclosures in light of what Defendants knew at the time. Defendants represented that there were no problems with the electrical system, plumbing, sewer system and line, structure, foundation, wastewater disposal and expansive soil. (3 APP. 518-19). Under "explanations", sellers represent that new AC units had been installed, bathrooms redone and that the AC units were installed by a licensed contractor. (3 APP. 520). To distance themselves from the property, seller represented that it did not reside at or visit the property. *Id.* This representation is made in spite of the fact that the seller was part of Kenny Lin's "flipping fund" and that it was Lin and his company, InvestPro, who had made the repairs. (4 App. 710).

WLAB filed its complaint December 11, 2018, including causes of action for violation of NRS Chapter 113 (as to TKNR and Wong), Constructive Fraud (InvestPro and Nickrandt), Common Law Fraud (InvestPro, Nickrandt and Lin), Fraudulent Inducement (all defendants/respondents).

<u>Pleadings History</u>

Defendants/Respondents filed their Motion for Summarv Judgment or in the Alternative Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on December 15, 2020. (3 App. 471-503). Plaintiff/Appellant filed its Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment on December 29, 2020. (4) App. 686-851). Defendants/Respondents' Reply was filed January 21, 2021. (4 App. 852-889). The district court granted Defendants/Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on March 11, 2021. The district court filed the original order March 30, 2021. (6 App. 1252) The district court filed the amended order April 7, 2021. (7 App. 1407) WLAB filed its Motion for Reconsideration on April 16, 2021. (8) App. 1451-1629). WLAB's Notice of Appeal of Amended Order was filed April 26, 2021. (8 App. 1630-1631). Defendants/Respondents filed their Reply to Motion for Reconsideration April 30, 2021. (8 App. 1636-1662). The district court's Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration was filed May 25, 2021. (9 App. 1836-1843). WLAB filed its Notice of Appeal (Order Granting in Part

2021. (9 App. 1844-1845). This Court consolidated both appeals on August 30, 2021.

and Denying in Part Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration) on June 8,

ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Summary Judgment.

The purpose of the summary judgment procedure is to obviate trials when they would serve no useful purpose. *Short v. Hotel Riviera, Inc.*, 79 Nev. 94, 378 P.2d 979 (1963); *Coray v. Hom*, 80 Nev. 39, 389 P.2d 76 (1964).

The function of summary judgment is not to test the legal sufficiency of the complaint to state a claim. *Force v. Peccole*, 74 Nev. 64, 322 P.2d 307 (1958). Rather, it is to pierce the pleadings and to test whether, <u>under the uncontroverted facts</u>, one party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. NRCP 56(c); *Matsushita Elec. Ind. Co. v. Zenith Radio*, 475 U.S. 574, 89 L. Ed 2d 538, 106 S. Ct. 1348 (1986) (Emphasis added).

It is axiomatic that the party moving for summary judgment has the burden of demonstrating clearly that there are no genuine issues of material fact to be determined. *City of Boulder City v. State*, 106 Nev. 390, 793 P.2d 845 (1990).

Nevada has adopted the summary judgment standards of the federal courts. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026

(2005) adopting the summary judgment enunciated in *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 91 L.Ed. 265 (1986), *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986), and *Matushita Electric Industrial Co. v. Zenith Radio*, 475 U.S. 574, 586, 106 S.Ct. 1348, 89 L.Ed.2d 538 (1986). The moving party has the initial burden of identifying the portions of the materials on file that it believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Id.*; *T.W. Elec. Serv., Inc. v. Pacific Elec. Contractors Ass'n*, 809 F.2d 626, 630 (C.A.9, 1987). The responding party must then show by probative evidence what material facts are genuinely in dispute and require trial. NRCP 56(e); *Van Cleave v. Kietz-Mill Minute Mart*, 97 Nev. 414, 633 P.2d 871 (1980).

B. <u>The Court's Amended Order References Facts Which Are</u> <u>Clearly In Dispute</u>.

The district court's amended order contains 26 pages of facts which the district court asserts are uncontested. ¶ 9 of the district court's amended order references NRS 113.130 stating that the seller does not have a duty to disclose defects of which it is unaware. (7 APP. 1397, ll. 2-4). That is the point of this case. Numerous issues of fact exist as to what Defendants knew, what they disclosed and what they covered up. The district court's amended order further states in ¶ 10: "It is undisputed that the alleged deficiencies were either disclosed by Defendants, could have been discovered by an inspection, were open and obvious whereby Plaintiff/Ms. Zhu/Mr. Miao had notice of them at the time Plaintiff purchased the Property, or were unknown to Defendant at the time of the sale." (7 APP. 1397). This statement in the district court's amended order completely misstates the evidence in the case.

April 7, 2021, Amended Order (Findings of Fact).

"Under Paragraph 7(c) of the RPA, Ms. Zhu waived the Due Diligence condition." (8 APP. 1589, ll. 4-5). WLAB did not waive the right to inspect as evidenced by the

August 11, 2017 and September 4, 2017 Purchase Agreements. (3 APP. 509, ll. 24-25; 532, ll. 18-19). WLAB reserved the right to inspect and, in fact, Ms. Miao initially inspected the subject property with Mr. Kenny Lin on August 10, 2017, one day prior to the purchase agreement being signed by Ms. Zhu. (8 App. 1492: ¶3) It was only after Mr. Miao's initial inspection of the property that he told his wife to go ahead and sign the purchase agreement. *Id.* The agreement was e-signed on August 11, 2017, with the help of Kenny Lin and Ms. Le Wei Chen, an

agent from Mr. Lin's Investpro office. *Id.* After the August 11, 2017, agreement was signed, Mr. Miao conducted additional inspections of the property. (8 App. 1493: ¶4). For the district court to contend that WLAB waived due diligence is simply not true and a factual issue for the jury to address.

"On August 2, 2017, TKNR submitted Seller's Real Property Disclosure Form ("SRPDF" or "Seller's Disclosures") timely indicating all known conditions of the Subject Property." (8 APP. 1589, ll. 19-21).

There is nothing in Seller's disclosures referencing the broken sewer line or the structurally unsound foundation caused by earth movements. (8 App. 1496, ¶9; 1531-39). In fact, Sellers fraudulently represented that they were not aware of any issues with the foundation. (3 APP. 518-19). Seller's disclosure said nothing about dryers being ducted into the attic, about AC wiring being piggy backed onto other electrical circuits, about inadequate electrical service to the units or about uninsulated AC ducting.

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