IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

W L A B INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

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

13 belief; correct?

14· · · A. · · Based on my experience.

15· · · Q. · · Okay. · So you're still speculating; right?

16· · · A. · · Okay. · Yes.

(AA V, 0981).

 $17 \cdot \cdot \cdot Q$. · So no one ever told you that. · It's just

18 based on your own personal belief?

 $19 \cdot \cdot \cdot A \cdot \cdot Yes.$

20 · · · Q. · · Okay. · And then, "Removal of natural gas

21 supply line was, which occurred with no permit or

22 inspection and was not performed by active licensed

23 contractor as required by law," this is also based

24 on your personal belief?

 $25 \cdot \cdot \cdot A. \cdot \cdot Yeah$

(AA V, 0988-0989).

24····So as it relates to all these items here,

25 no defendant ever came up to you and said, Yes, Page 255

1 we're actually aware of these issues; right?

 $\cdot 2 \cdot \cdot \cdot A \cdot \cdot \cdot \text{No.}$

(AA V, 0989-0990).

 $19 \cdot \cdot \cdot Q \cdot \cdot$ This is the first time it ever became an

20 issue known to you; right?

 $21 \cdot \cdot \cdot A \cdot \cdot \cdot$ Yeah, for the roof.

22· · · Q.· · How do you know that the Respondents knew

23 about this issue?

24· · · A. · · I don't know -- I don't know the

25 defendant -- no. · I don't know the defendant know

Page 256

1 this issue or not.

(APP V, 0991-0992).

9. · · · Q. · · Like, the violations were hidden behind

10 the drywall, like, what information do you have that

11 the Respondents hid it behind the drywall? You know

12 or you don't know?

13· · · A. · · I just know behind the drywall that put

14 the vent without -- that is a violation, but I don't

15 know who did that.

16· · · Q. · · Okay. · So you don't know who did it?

 $17 \cdot \cdot \cdot A. \cdot \cdot \text{Yeah}$, yes.

18· · · Q. · · Okay. · So it's possible that the

19 Respondents did not know about it or hide it; is that 20 fair?

 $21 \cdot \cdot \cdot A \cdot \cdot Yes.$

(AA V, 0993).

22· · · Q. · · Okay. · And then you have this other thing

23 about the wood paneling. Same question. How do you

24 know the Respondents knew about it?

25· · · A. · · I don't know Respondents know about it. I Page 258

·1 only found out this one.

- ·2· · · Q.· · So it's possible they didn't know about
- ·3 this issue as well; correct?
- ·4· · · A.· ·Yes.

(AA V, 0993-0994).

- ·1· · · Q. · · So "It's impossible that Respondents, at
- ·2 least the ones involved in the sale, which are
- ·3 Respondents TKNR, et cetera, did not know about the
- ·4 renovations."
- ·5· · · · · · So you're basically speculating; right?
- ·6· · · A.· ·Yeah, yeah, yeah.

(AA V, 0995).

Not only does the aforementioned testimony illustrate that this entire case is based on Appellant's speculation, but the overall lack of evidence provided by Appellant illustrates summary judgment was appropriate. Appellant opposed reopening discovery prior to Respondents filing for summary judgment, (AA I, 0181-0193), believing it had all evidence necessary, largely relying on its expert's report. However, as illustrated above the only evidence outside of Appellant's speculation is Appellant's expert's report. Incredibly, Appellant's expert report fails to provide any argument or allegation that Respondents knew or should have known of the alleged issues. (AA V, 0753-0782). This further establishes that summary judgment was appropriate in this matter.

Summary Judgment was unequivocally necessary based on Appellant's admissions that it has no evidence to illustrate Respondents had realized, perceived, or had knowledge of any alleged condition with the Property. See

Nelson v. Heer, 163 P.3d 420, 425-426 (Nev. 2007) (citing NRS 113.140(1)). Additionally, the undisputed fact that Appellant is a sophisticated and experienced purchaser—who knows of a buyer's duty to protect itself through due diligence but chose not to have professional inspection in order to save money—further supports the finding of summary judgment. Respondents' expert report clearly establishes that all of the conditions alleged by Appellant were open and obvious and could have been discovered by Appellant at the time Mr. Miao claims he inspected the Property, which Appellant admits. As there is no genuine issue as to Appellant's duty to inspect, Appellant's waiver of its due diligence and failure to adequately inspect the Property, that an inspection would have discovered the complained conditions, and the lack of evidence illustrating Respondents knew of any alleged condition, the finding for summary judgment must be affirmed.

C. <u>Appellant's Decision to File and Maintain this Frivolous Lawsuit</u> was an Abuse of Process allowing for Award of Attorneys' Fees.

The elements of an abuse of process claim are: "(1) an ulterior purpose by the Respondents other than resolving a legal dispute, and (2) a willful act in the use of the legal process not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding." See *Posadas v. City of Reno*, 109 Nev. 448, 452, 851 P.2d 438, 441 42 (1993). Abuse of process can arise from both civil and criminal proceedings. See *LaMantia v. Redisi*, 118 Nev. 27, 30, 38 P.3d 877, 879 (2002). Malice, want of probable cause, and termination in favor of the person initiating or instituting proceedings are not

necessary elements for a prima facie abuse of process claim. See Nevada Credit Rating Bur. v. Williams, 88 Nev. 601, 606, 503 P.2d 9, 12 (1972); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 682 cmt. a (1977). Although the mere filing of a complaint is insufficient to establish the tort of abuse of process, the failure to present proper evidence can be indicative of an abuse of process claim. See Laxalt v. McClatchy, 622 F. Supp. 737, 751 (1985). Here, Appellant continuously used the legal process to harass Respondents without sufficient legal or factual basis for bringing the claims, as indicated by the lack of evidence presented by Appellant to support their claims in this matter.

On January 7, 2019, Respondents' then-counsel, Burdick Law PLLC ("Burdick") filed a motion to dismiss. (AA I, 0009-0052). Burdick identified obvious issues denoted by the district court related to Appellant's lack of a meritorious lawsuit because of the clear language in the Residential Purchase Agreement and the waiver of the inspections, the issues related to Appellant's actual knowledge from the seller's disclosures, and the lack of basis for the alleged fraud claims. (AA I, 0011-0012). The motion also walked through the issues with Appellant's failure to do an inspection in light of his actual knowledge gained from the seller's disclosures. (Id.). However, Appellant's opposition to the motion to dismiss presented bluster arguments that completely failed to address the issue related to Appellant's actual knowledge and failure to inspect. (AA I, 0060-0061).

Notably, Appellant also presented a declaration from Mr. Miao that admitted Mr. Miao was aware of alleged code violations at the time he examined the property, had discussions with the current tenant, and elected to waive the professional inspection based on his belief he was qualified to inspect. (AA I, 0064-0066).

Incredibly, Mr. Miao admitted during his deposition, that Appellant: had access to inspect the entire property and conduct non-invasive, non-destructive inspections, (AA V, 0949-0952, 0986-0987, 1009, 1023); was aware of the strong recommendation to hire a licensed Nevada professional to do the inspection, (AA V, 0959); the clear language in Paragraph D of the Residential Purchase Agreement, (AA III, 0509-0510, 0512, 0531-0532, 0534); the terms of the Residential Purchase Agreement were conspicuous and understandable, and a standard agreement similar to the other agreements Appellant had used in purchasing the other properties in Clark County, Nevada, (AA V, 0962-0964); knew there was an issue with exposed electrical in Unit C, (AA V, 0958); suspected that there could have been a potential asbestos issue as well, (AA V, 0944); had actual knowledge there were cracks in the ceramic floor tiles, (AA V, 0985-0986), visible cracks in the concrete foundation, aware of slab cracks, all of which were open and obvious (AA V, 1000-1001); and saw the dryer vent during Mr. Miao's inspection (AA V, 1000).

Further, Appellant also admitted that it received the SDRPF prior to the

purchase of the Property (AA V, 0965), was aware that TKNR was an investor who had not resided in the Property, and there were issues with the heating systems, cooling systems, and that there was work done without permits. (AA V, 0965-0966). Similarly, it was aware that the Property was 63 years old at that time and all the work was done by a handyman other than the HVAC installation. (AA V, 0932, 0967-0968, 0983). Appellant was also on notice of the potential for mold and the requirement to get a mold inspection. (AA V, 0972-0973).

Here, the evidence presented by Respondents, including the deposition testimony of Mr. Miao, and the lack of evidence set forth by Appellant in opposing the motion for summary judgment, illustrates the overall bad faith nature of its prosecution of the underlying action. Rather than do a competent inquiry, Appellant argued at the hearing that there were permits and inspections required, and that Respondents had not disclosed issues to Appellant. (AA I, 0109-0110). Thereafter, after misleading the district court, Appellant filed the first amended complaint on March 4, 2019 and included more Respondents and more frivolous claims. (AA I, 0111-0140).

After Respondents moved to amend its pleading to include a claim of abuse of process by Appellant, Appellant vexatiously moved to amend the pleading to include (15) Abuse of Process [As To All Respondents] as a claim in Appellant's second amended complaint. (AA II, 0361-0398; RA I, 0001-0004). Incredibly,

Appellant claimed damages of \$16.25 Million. (RA I, 0005-0011). This petty action embodies the conduct of Appellant in frivolously presenting baseless causes of action and needlessly increasing the cost of litigation for the improper purposes identified in Rule 11, NRS 18.010(2)(b), and Respondents' claims for abuse of process.

On November 19, 2020, Respondents propounded an offer of judgment on Appellant specifying the issues identified by Respondents in the motion to dismiss (AA I, 0009-0052, 0194-0198). The lack of merit of Appellant's claims related to those issues was further supported Mr. Miao's admissions from his deposition. Consistent with Appellant's vexatious prosecution of this matter to harass Respondents, Appellant propounded irrelevant discovery requests unlikely to lead to admissible / relevant evidence, clearly engaging in harassment of Respondents by requesting irrelevant documentation simply for the purpose of increasing Respondents' legal costs. (AA VI, 1129-1158).

On November 26, 2020, Appellant submitted discovery requests to Cheng, Investments, Realty, Wong, and TKNR. (AA II, 0399-0449 – AA III, 0450-470). On December 29, 2020, Respondents submitted their responses to Appellant's discovery requests (collectively, "Responses"). (AA III, 0612-0685). However, Appellant continued with his vexatious litigation practices and initiated a baseless discovery dispute. Appellant even admitted that several of the disputed documents

should be in the possession of Appellant, although Appellant had not disclosed any of them, illustrating the overall baselessness of the discovery requests and actual bad faith conduct by Appellant. (AA VI, 1150-1156).

Appellant always knew that this matter was frivolous considering its waiver of due diligence, the disclosures made by the sellers at the time of sale, and the lack of evidence related to Respondents' alleged knowledge of defects with the Property. However, despite being put on notice of these issues multiple times throughout the case, Appellant not only chose to maintain the frivolous lawsuit but unreasonably and vexatiously increased the scope of the litigation by adding new parties and new causes of action. Moreover, Appellant created bogus discovery disputes to harass Respondents and increase their attorneys' fees and costs. Appellant's choice to continue the litigation and harass Respondents, despite knowing it has no evidence and the claims are based on speculation, (AA V, 0984, 0988-0995), amounts to abuse of process allowing for finding of attorneys' fees.

D. <u>Decision Not to Hold Separate Evidentiary Hearing was Harmless</u> Error as Sanctions were Appropriate Pursuant to Statute

Justice requires the imposition of sanctions related to Appellant's conduct in this matter. Appellant filed and maintained a baseless lawsuit with absolutely no evidence to support its claims. (AA V, 0984, 0988-0995). Not only does Appellant's claims suffer from lack of supporting evidence—as illustrated in Section VI(B) of this Respondent's Brief—but the evidence on record in this

matter actually contradicts the claims brought by Appellant. Ultimately, the district court found that, "this is one of the clearest cut cases [for summary judgment] that I've seen." (AA VII, 1441). Further holding that, "when you're looking at the residential purchase agreement and signed disclosure, it's clear in my view that this is a baseless lawsuit[.]" (Id.).

Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 61 provides:

[u]nless justice requires otherwise, no error in admitting or excluding evidence — or any other error by the court or a party — is ground for granting a new trial, for setting aside a verdict, or for vacating, modifying, or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order. At every stage of the proceeding, the court must disregard all errors and defects that do not affect any party's substantial rights.

Under Nevada law, Rule 11 prevents a party from bringing a lawsuit for an improper purpose, which includes: (1) harassment, causing unnecessary delay, or needless increasing the cost of litigation; or (2) making frivolous claims. Nev. R. Civ. Pro. § 11(b)(1)-(2). The court understands that Rule 11 sanctions should be imposed for frivolous actions. See Marshall v. District Court, 108 Nev. 459, 465, 836 P.2d 47, 52 (1992). Notably, the Court can impose sanctions under Nevada Revised Statutes § 7.085 and/or 18.010(2)(b). See Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 7.085 and 18.010(2)(b). Both statutes relate to Rule 11 and expressly advise that it is the Legislature's intent to allow the court to award attorneys' fees as sanctions "in all appropriate situations to punish for and deter frivolous or vexatious claims and

defenses[.]" *Id.* Additionally, both statutes advise that the court should "liberally construe the provisions of this section in favor of awarding costs, expenses and attorney's fees in all appropriate situations." *Id.* However, neither statute expressly requires the same rigorous procedural requirements as Rule 11, i.e., 21-day safe harbor and/or a Show Cause Hearing.

This Honorable Court has previously held that persuasive authority and Nevada's rules for statutory interpretation strongly support treating NRCP 11, NRS 7.085, and NRS 18.010(2)(b) as independent sanctioning mechanisms. Watson Rounds v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. 783, 788, 358 P.3d 228, 232 (2015). Further holding that, "federal authority strongly indicates that NRCP 11 does not supersede NRS 7.085." *Id.* at 790, 232. In determining such, the Court has advised that the Rule and the Statute should be treated "as independent methods for district courts to award attorney fees for misconduct." Id. In that light, Section 7.085 does not require the same procedural requirements of safe harbor or an order to show cause, as included in Rule 11, prior to the court imposing sanctions for filing and maintaining frivolous actions. *Id.* The same can be said for Section 18.010(2)(b) as the statutory interpretation and persuasive authority analysis included in Watson would be the same. Therefore, the Interested Parties believe that the imposition of sanctions in this matter—despite the failure to strictly adhere to the procedural requirements of Rule 11—was not an abuse of discretion, and the failure to

designate the sanctions under Nevada Revised Statutes §§ 7.085 or 18.010(2)(b), which relate to Rule 11, amounts to harmless error.

Notably, the Amended MSJ Order includes citation to Section 18.010(2)(b). (AA VII, 1405-1406 at ¶¶ 60, 80). Appellant's substantial rights are not affected because the sanctions would have been imposed under Section 7.085 or 18.020(2)(b). Regardless of whether Appellant was provided safe harbor, the frivolous nature of the entire action would not have changed. Moreover, Watson holds that the sanctions will be upheld if the court makes sufficient finding for the same. Watson Rounds, 131 Nev. at 790, 358 P.3d at 233. Here, the findings of fact and conclusions of law contained in the Amended MSJ Order sufficiently establish the evidentiary basis for the court's determination that Appellant's claims were frivolously brought and maintained, illustrating that imposition of sanctions in this matter was appropriate. (AA VII, 1367-1409). As such, any failure to provide safe harbor or to hold a show-cause hearing would amount to harmless error as the Amended MSJ Order provides clear and sufficient factual basis to allow for the sanctions imposed. Watson Rounds, 131 Nev. at 790, 358 P.3d at 233.

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